
SCRUTINY : NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES, PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE
2.30 pm MONDAY, 22ND JANUARY, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 
and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Environmental Wellbeing (EW 1) - Communities 
protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside 
To consider the attached report 1 - 24

4. Fly Tipping Update including Prosecutions and 
Penalties 
To consider the attached report 25 - 32

5. Referral from Cabinet Member; Capital Project 
Scrutiny Referral (Brandy Bridge scheme / Road 
Slip - South of Pontygwaith) 
To consider the attached report 33 - 46

6. Update on Carbon & Energy Management 
Activities 
To consider the attached report. 47 - 54

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.

9. Forward Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 55 - 78

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor D Sammon (Chair)

Councillors: D Jones, R Braithwaite, M Colbran, 
K Gibbs, C T Jones and J Thomas

Co-optee: R Holdaway  
Youth Forum Representative: E Scriven 

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Environmental Wellbeing EW1 - Communities protect, enhance and 
promote our natural environment and countryside. 

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

Wellbeing Objective performance report

1.1. We have set wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on how 
we intend to achieve the objectives set out in our Plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing 
in our Community’.  The focus of this report is to demonstrate how we will ensure we 
maximise our opportunities to support communities by protecting, enhancing and 
promoting our natural environment and countryside through a series of wellbeing 
projects.

1.2. This report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the Council will undertake to 
deliver its wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals in these 
fields.

1.3. There are 3 wellbeing projects which are currently being delivered:

 Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan;

Date Written Monday, 15 January 2018

Accountable for Delivery Cheryllee Evans
Project Leads Mick Campbell

Stephen Thomas
Sue Gow

Wellbeing Champion Mark Anderton

Committee Date Monday, 22 January 2018

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


 Carbon Management Plan; and
 Furniture reuse.

1.4. This report establishes the baseline for these 3 wellbeing projects and highlights 
progress made in delivering these projects.  This will be reported to scrutiny at future 
meetings.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies 
that focus on delivering excellent services via ‘business as usual’ and key projects are:

 Collaborative Change Programme (Technical Report) - Not Published1

 Corporate Asset Management Plan 
 Carbon Management Plan – Not Published1

 Open Space Strategy 
 Local Development Plan2

3.2. In our plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community], we set out how we 
intend to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate 
the performance and project information against our Wellbeing Objective "Communities 
protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside".

Legislative Context
3.3. 3The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities

1 This document has been approved but is not in the public domain
2 The Local Development Plan is currently under review and is out for public consultation
3 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

Page 2

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1881/corporate-asset-management-plan-2014-19-v2.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3061/oss-english.pdf
file:///C:/Users/purnem/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Wellbeing%20of%20Future%20Generations/Wellbeing%20Plan%20-%20Projects/Working%20Life%20-%20Projects/WL2%20-%20Projects/MT%20LDP%202006-2021.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales

3.4. We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which 
means that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There 
are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

3.5. 4The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing5, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment6 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement
4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside

4 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014
5 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
6 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 3

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in 
good quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, 
learning new skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

4.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because 
research shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple 
benefits for people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat 
protection and enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental 
health.

4.4. From a Merthyr Tydfil perspective, the key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy;
 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 

spaces; and 
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy.

5. OUR CONTRIBUTION

Reference to Performance and Projects
(Full details for all projects and performance measures in the Appendix I)

5.1. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake to deliver our 
wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing goals.  For "Communities 
protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets” there are 3 wellbeing 
projects:

 Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan;
 Carbon Management Plan; and
 Furniture reuse.

5.2. Key measures of performance (KPI)

5.3. We will judge the impact on the wellbeing of Communities protect, develop and promote 
our heritage and cultural assets using the following key indicators.

Page 4



Key Performance Indicators 2016/17
Achieved

2017/18
LA 

Target

2017/18
WG 

Target

2017/18
Actual to 

Date

2018/19
LA 

Target
Percentage of waste reused, recycled 
or composted 65.09

(17955.55 
/ 27585.20)

64.00 58
64.877 
(9296.97 

/ 14330.95)
as at Q2

67.00

Percentage of municipal waste 
collected by local authorities sent to 
landfill

3.7
(1009.02 / 
27585.20)

5.0 -
0.85

(116.64 / 
14330.95)

5.0

Percentage of fly-tipping incidents 
cleared in 5 days

100
(1785/1785) 100 - 100 100

The percentage of highways 
inspected of a high or acceptable 
standard of cleanliness

97.0 
(423/436) 100 - 96.15

(as at Q2) 100

Total carbon dioxide emissions from 
energy consumed by local authority 
buildings

15808 15333 - 19928 14873

6. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By monitoring performance indicators and the outcomes of the projects we are 
delivering, we will know things are better when:

 The air quality on Twynyrodyn Road improves
 The local authority's CO2 emissions reduce by 3% from its buildings (per annum)
 Reported fly-tipping incidents are cleared within 5 days
 The cleanliness of our streets improve
 Our recycling rates improve and our we landfill less waste
 The overall number of priority spaces that meet the quality standards improves

7. WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1. Discussions are ongoing around key projects which will provide greater focus on 
wellbeing and where we can achieve the greatest impact to support positive progress 
against this objective.  The delivery teams have identified 3 key projects which will 
enable them to focus on areas where the greatest impact can be achieved: these are 
outlined in Point 5.3 of this report.

7 This is subject to Waste Data Flow (WDF) validation
8 Only approximately 25% of the DECs have been completed and registered to date.  The contractors have 
assured us that all of the DECs will be completed and registered by the end of financial year.

Page 5



7.2. A second, more extensive, automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) survey is 
currently being planned to provide reliable data on where the traffic using Twynyrodyn 
Road and other key links is travelling to and from.  This will enable us to more 
accurately assess the likely effect of various traffic control measures on both air quality 
and congestion in the town; the two being closely linked.

7.3. We have established baseline data for all of the Council buildings for 2014 in 
preparation for the target setting of the carbon emission reductions once the carbon 
management plan has been approved.  We are still waiting on accurate billing data from 
British Gas.

7.4. The pilot project for furniture reuse is progressing and numerous items have been 
identified as suitable for re-use. These are currently stored at unit 5 and subsequently 
collected by The Furniture Revival for repair/renovation and resale. 

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1. For each of the projects there are planned actions for delivery, as well as the milestones 
and the deadlines for those actions. The actions take into account the identified issues 
and risks.  

8.2. The Council will undertake a formal public consultation to engage with the local 
community and other stakeholders as a part of the preparation of the Air Quality 
Management Area Action Plan in the first quarter of 2018.

8.3. The main target for the next period is to get the Carbon Management Plan agreed with 
the carbon management team and then passed to Council for approval.  In the 
meantime we will continue to try to source funding streams for projects and are awaiting 
approval for a permanent energy engineer post on a full time basis.  We need the extra 
resources in order to be able to take the plan forward.  The risks and issues going 
forward remain the same as before as without sufficient funding for projects and 
resources we are unable to drive the plan any further forward.

8.4. As a part of the furniture reuse project we will explore options that will possibly provide 
opportunities to collect bric-a-brac items at the HWRCs for re-use. In addition to this, we 
will also start the application process to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) to undertake 
the waste functions at Unit 20 (Dec 17 – Jun 18) and submit the necessary planning 
applications for the site (Dec 17). 

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, PLANNING 
AND COUNTRYSIDE 

Page 6



EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside: 

Strategy on a Page

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 7



APPENDIX I

Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan

Project Title Preparation of an Air Quality Management Area Action Plan

Project Manager Susan Gow

Report Period From 01 April 2017 Report Period To 30 June 2017

Accountable for Delivery Steve Peters

Services Environmental Health team

Wellbeing Objectives Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside

Component(s) Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution

Project Description On 30/01/17, an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was declared.  
This covers the Twynyrodyn Road from the roundabout at the western 
end (Tesco) to the crossroads between Gilfach-Cynon and Arfryn Place.  
It was necessary to declare the AQMA as nitrogen dioxide levels 
exceeded the National Air Quality Objective at a number of monitoring 
locations along the stretch of road. 

The next step in improving air quality is for the Local authority to devise 
an action plan.  Following consultation with relevant stakeholders, 
measures within the plan will be implemented in order to reduce nitrogen 
dioxide to acceptable levels.

Expected Benefits  Reduce nitrogen dioxide levels in the affected area
 Improve health and wellbeing of local population

Rationale for the Project The effects of both short and long-term exposure to various air pollutants 
have been comprehensively researched and the links between air 
pollution exposure and adverse health outcomes are now widely 
accepted.9

The environmental impact of poor air quality can affect people’s health; 
impact on the growth of vegetation and cause damage to materials.  In 
Wales, air pollutants are primarily monitored because of the effect on 
human health and ecosystems.  However, some pollutants can contribute 
towards climate change and these impacts have to be taken into account 
when planning national and local air quality management strategies.

In Merthyr Tydfil, elevated levels have been identified as a result of 
routine monitoring of air quality via a network of 24 monitoring stations 
located throughout the County Borough. The results are reported 
annually to the Welsh Government who monitors progress made by local 

9  Public Health Wales

Page 8



authorities in remedying the exceedances found. 

Start Date Development of an action plan has commenced and the plan must be 
finalised within 18 months from the date of declaration.  Implementation 
of the plan then follows.

Finish Date 30/06/2018

Highlight Report Author Susan Gow

Key Actions
The AQMA action plan must be developed within 12-18 months of the date of the declaration 
and must be completed and submitted for inspection to WG by the end of July 2018 at the 
latest.  There is currently no specific budget or additional resource associated with the 
production of the Plan and it is being prepared alongside business as usual. 

Specific actions to be undertaken by the end of March 2018: 

 Analysis of the data obtained from the proposed second automatic number plate 
recognition (ANPR) traffic survey after completion by the Highways Engineers.

 Work actively with internal partners (Highways Engineers, members, corporate 
communications etc.) to finalise draft action plan proposals.

 Undertake formal public consultation in the first quarter of 2018 on the draft proposals in 
accordance with WG policy guidance. This process will meet the requirement to engage 
the local community and other stakeholders and include their contribution in finalised 
version of the plan.

Progress since the project began

The additional monitoring station added to the lower end of Twynyrodyn Road produced 
sufficient data to permit an interim assessment to be made of the potential for other air 
pollution hotspots on Twynyrodyn Hill. This indicates the area of exceedance is currently 
confined to the section of Twynyrodyn Road between Windsor Terrace and Queens Road and 
will remain so provided traffic levels on the road between Windsor Terrace and the roundabout 
outside Tesco do not increase.
The ANPR traffic survey was completed for the Highways Engineers by specialist consultants 
in July.  The data produced has since been studied in detail by Environmental Health Officers. 
The results show the traffic on Twynyrodyn Road to have a generally steady flow from the 
A465 which peaks at rush-hours but also to carry very substantial traffic from Goatmill Road 
and Mansfield Terrace. This  showed it to be a primary route for local traffic travelling to and 
from the north of the Borough and allowed us to consider other options for controlling the 
problem with potentially fewer adverse impacts for local residents. A second, more extensive, 
ANPR survey is currently being planned to provide reliable data on where the traffic using 
Twynyrodyn Road and other key links is travelling to and from.  This will enable us to more 

Page 9



accurately assess the likely effect of various traffic control measures on both air quality and 
congestion in the town; the two being closely linked.

The intention was to have various options to reduce the levels of nitrogen dioxide to the lowest 
possible levels; and below the air quality objective ready for public consultation before the end 
of 2017. This is will not now happen because the impacts identified by the second ANPR 
surveys will not be known until early in the New Year.
 
Project Risks

The risks associated with failing to deliver the action plan on time are:

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 

required

Responsible 
person for 

action

Date for 
decision or 

action

1 Failure to complete Action 
Plan within the prescribed 
time-scale leading to a breach 
of legislative requirements

5 2 10  Delays in taking 
the necessary 
action for the 
benefit of the 
community 
members 
affected

 Failure to meet 
the legislative 
requirements 
could lead to 
intervention by 
Welsh 
Government & 
ultimately result 
in the Council 
being issued 
with a direction 
from WG 

 Loss of 
organisational 
reputation

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis

Susan 
Gow

2 Increased risk of air pollutants 
having a negative impact on 
the physical wellbeing of the 
community living in the AQMA 
& the long term consequences 
for future generations. 

4 2 8  Failure to meet 
the current and 
changing needs 
& expectations 
of our 
community

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis

Susan 
Gow

Page 10



Project Issues

The issues impacting on the ability to deliver the action plan on time are:

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

1 Lack of capacity within 
Environmental Health or 
Highways & Engineering team 
to complete the necessary 
tasks

4  Delivery of the 
project relies 
heavily on 
existing 
capacity being 
maintained.

 Lack of 
capacity could 
lead to delays 
affecting the 
council’s ability 
to meet 
deadlines

 If the primary 
focus for 
officers is 
completion of 
tasks linked to 
the AQMA, 
there could be 
a knock on 
effect to 
‘business as 
usual’ 

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis

Susan 
Gow

2 Internal budgetary pressure 
because there is no 
departmental budget for 
undertaking mathematical 
modelling of potential options 
for reducing the level of 
nitrogen dioxide. This will 
need to be funded Highways 
Engineers. 

4  The process to 
complete the 
modelling of 
potential 
options 
becomes 
elongated 
which could 
lead to the 
Council’s 
ability to meet 
the statutory 
deadline

Monitor 
progress 
on an 
ongoing 
basis

Susan 
Gow

Page 11



Carbon Management Plan

Project Title Carbon Management Plan

Project Manager Mick Campbell

Report Period From August 2017 Report Period To September 2017

Accountable for Delivery Cheryllee Evans

Services Corporate Property:  Building Services

Wellbeing Objective Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside

Component(s) Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy

Project Description The purpose of the Carbon Management Plan is to outline a strategy to 
deliver a programme of initiatives to achieve our reduction targets and 
ultimately reduce the Authority’s revenue expenditure by £350,000 per 
annum by the end of the five year plan from the following areas:

 Buildings;
 Street lighting; 
 Fleet; and 
 Business travel.

The initiatives could be funded by a Salix type recycling fund where the 
Authority and Salix provide 50/50 funding which can be continually 
recycled to provide further funding.  

Expected Benefits To reduce the Authority’s properties CO2 emissions arising by 3% per 
annum (15% by 2021).  By reducing energy use we should also generate 
savings.

Rationale for the Project The objectives of the Carbon Management Plan are supportive of the 
Authority’s environmental responsibilities under its’ charter, of the Welsh 
Government’s obligations under the Environment (Wales) Act 2015 and 
of the requirements placed on all public sector bodies in Wales by the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
The Plan addresses the need to reduce expenditure and represents a 
positive response to recent Carbon Management Reviews which ranked 
the Council 21st out of 22 Local Authorities in Wales for Carbon 
Management.

Start Date 2017

Finish Date 2021

Highlight Report Author Mick Campbell

Page 12



Key Actions

Buildings
In order to reduce the amount of Carbon Dioxide produced and to save energy and reduce 
operating costs, the local authority will:

 Operate its existing buildings in an as efficient way as possible dependant on the plant, 
lighting and controls within the building;

 Will invest in Invest to Save Technical Projects as and when funding is available to improve 
energy efficiency and reduce CO2 emissions;

 Design and Asset Management – all new buildings and refurbishment projects will be 
carried out with energy efficiency and life cycle costs taken into consideration.  The most 
efficient equipment will be installed wherever financially possible;

 Renewable Technologies will be installed where both feasible and financially viable; and, 
 Continue to investigate new technologies and advise on their feasibility for use.

Street lighting
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced and to save energy, the local authority will:
 Operate its street lighting as efficiently as possible, and look to utilise night time dimming 

where acceptable.

Fleet
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced, the local authority will:
 Maintain its vehicles regularly;
 Use the vehicle tracker system to ensure that the vehicles are used effectively and to 

monitor and improve driver behaviour;
 Procure the most efficient vehicles available to do the job; and
 Continue to investigate alternative fuel sources as technology develops.

Business Travel
In order to reduce the amount of CO2 produced, the local authority will:
 Look to minimising the amount of business travel being carried out as much as possible 

(when staffing levels allow).

(b) Project Performance

Local Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by local authority 
buildings

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 15808 0 934 1058 1992 (to date)10 15333

10 Only approximately 25% of the DECs have been completed and registered to date.  The contractors have 
assured us that all of the DECs will be completed and registered by the end of financial year.

Page 13



National Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by local authority 
buildings

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

2016/17 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT 15808 11552 14027 12074 15808 1992 (to date) 15333

Wales 21796 25993 28372 21744 22199 14245 (to date) 

(c) Project Evaluation

This is the first highlight report for the carbon management plan.  The plan has been passed to 
the Carbon Management Team for information and comments and should be presented to 
Council following the summer break.

This carbon management plan has been passed to the Carbon Management Team for 
information and comments and should be presented to Council later this year.  The delay is 
due to a lack of resources in that the energy engineer who was driving the project forward was 
a part time agency worker and has left and has not yet been replaced.  

During this period we have had several meetings with Green Growth Wales and the Refit 
programme looking at possible solutions to the lack of funding and resources.  These meetings 
have highlighted the lack of resources we have which will need to be addressed before we can 
move forward.  

We have issued an expression of interest to Salix for possible loans up to the value of 
£4million.  Each individual loan would have to be based on its own merits and would have to 
meet the Salix criteria before being accepted. 

We are investigating the feasibility of “solar farms” on a couple of sites which may be of benefit 
to the authority but no further information has yet been received back from Green Growth 
Wales.

The Welsh Government are about to issue renewable energy targets and carbon budgets in 
order to meet their ambition for Wales to be energy neutral by 2030.  Both of these will result in 
new legislation which will specifically target the public sector and increase both funding and 
resource requirements and place mandatory targets for reductions.  Dependant on the scope 
of the requirements may mean more staff are required to collect and collate the data and 
financial penalties may be incurred if targets are met.

We are still having problems getting up to date information from British Gas with approximately 
still £70,000 of outstanding bills to clear.  OFGEM, NPS and CCS are all involved in trying to 
get this problem rectified but British Gas still cannot provide accurate billing and therefore we 
are unable to pay for energy used.

Page 14



We have all of the large sites with a baseline for 2014 so that reductions targets can be set 
once the carbon management plan has been approved.  Most of 2015 & 16’s data has been 
input but we are still awaiting some data from British Gas to complete the information

Targets for the next period

The main target for the next period is to get the Carbon Management Plan agreed with the 
carbon management team and then passed to Council for approval.  In the meantime we will 
continue to try to source funding streams for projects and are awaiting approval for a 
permanent energy engineer post on a full time basis.  We need the extra resources in order to 
be able to take the plan forward.  The risks and issues going forward remain the same as 
before as without sufficient funding for projects and resources we are unable to drive the plan 
any further forward.

(d) Project Risks

Assessment of
Risk

Risk
No.

Risk
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

The plan has to be 
approved by the Carbon 
Management team

3 2 6 The plan needs 
to be agreed 
before it can be 
passed to 
Council for 
approval

Plan to be 
agreed by 
CMT

M 
Campbell

The plan has to be 
approved by Council

3 2 6 The plan need 
to be approved 
so it can be 
implemented

Plan to be 
brought 
before 
council

M 
Campbell

Lack of available funding 3 3 9 Unable to start 
plan without 
funding

Discussio
ns 
ongoing

Lack of staff resources 
should funding become 
available

3 3 9 Unable to start 
plan without 
staff to carry it 
out

Energy 
engineer 
post to be 
agreed

CMT

The risk of the plan being agreed and then approved is a minimal one as there are no 
controversial elements within in it.  The main risks are the lack of staff and funding with which 
to carry out the actions within the plan.  At the moment the position of a full time permanent 
energy engineer position is being evaluated as at the moment all reliance on energy is being 
placed on one member of staff who also has several other duties to perform.  The lack of 

Page 15



funding is being addressed  by investigating Salix funding for projects but the projects need full 
feasibility studies to be carried out first and we do not have the resources to do this in house or 
the funding to employ external consultants

(e) Project Issues

Assessment of 
Issue

Issue
No.

Issue
Description

I L S

Impact on 
Delivery/Benefits

Decision or 
action 
required

Responsible 
person for 
action

Date for 
decision or 
action

Lack of available funding 3 Unable to deliver 
without funding

Lack of suitable staff 3 Unable to deliver 
without staff

Even if we accept the Refit Cymru framework to accelerate the plan we still need to procure 
the projects, then project manage them and at the moment there are insufficient resources and 
no funding to be able to do this.  The personnel required need to be skilled in their fields and 
there is a lack of these skills generally available.

Page 16



Furniture Reuse

(a) Project Information

Project Title Furniture Reuse

Project Manager Stephen Thomas / Paul Davies

Report Period From August 2017 Report Period To November 2017

Accountable for Delivery Cheryllee Evans

Services Waste Management

Wellbeing Objective Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 
countryside

Component(s) Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 
hierarchy

Project Description In August 2017 MTCBC entered into a trial partnership arrangement with 
The Furniture Revival, a charitable organisation that collects and re sells 
used furniture items.

On receipt of a bulky item request the householder is asked whether or 
not the item/s is/are in a condition to be re-used. If any items are deemed 
to be re-useable the householder is asked to keep these inside their 
properties until collection. Items not deemed to be re-useable are placed 
on the kerbside for collection.

Bulky items for re-use requested through the existing MTCBC service are 
vetted by the collection crews who check and make the decision on 
whether the item/s is/are suitable for re-use. No re-useable items are 
taken to the HWRCs and deposited in the relevant material container for 
recycling. Re-useable items are delivered into unit 5.

Once there are sufficient re-useable items stored in the hanger at unit 5 a 
request is made to The Furniture Revival for collection. The collected 
items are taken to their storage depot/workshop in Rhymney for sorting 
and possible repair/renovation. These items are then re-sold to 
householders through The Furniture Revival`s shop.

Unit 20 will be developed by January 2019 to be the base for the furniture 
reuse scheme. 

Expected Benefits  Increase recovery rates of recyclable materials.
 Adhere to the waste hierarchy by re-using items before recycling, 

providing more sustainable waste management solutions.
 Provision of lower cost furniture items to local residents

Rationale for the Project In order to achieve the increasing Welsh Government recovery targets 
furniture previously sent for Energy from Waste (EfW) will be re-used or 

Page 17



recycled. Dealing with our materials in this way provides a more 
sustainable use of raw materials, and re-using/recycling of used furniture 
items is a more cost efficient means of treatment.
This project will provide lower cost furniture to householders within the 
County Borough.

Start Date August 2017

Finish Date January 2020

Highlight Report Author Stephen Thomas

Key Actions

In order to achieve Welsh Government recovery targets and provide a more sustainable use of 
resources MTCBC will:

Phase 1 – Pilot Project (August 2017 – December 2018)
 Deliver this project in line with the project description above.
 Promote the service through a variety of communication channels to increase public 

awareness and usage of the service.
 Investigate re-use options for smaller household items (Bric-a-brac).
 Investigate opportunities to divert furniture items collected at the HWRCs for re-use 

where suitable.

Phase 2 – Development of Unit 20 (September 2017 – January 2020)
 Start the necessary works to obtain topographic survey, drainage, design layout etc. 

(Sept 17).
 Complete the application process to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) to undertake the 

waste functions at Unit 20 (Dec 17 – Jun 18).
 Submit the necessary planning applications for the site (Dec 17).
 Undertake the procurement of contractors to carry out the work on site (Jan 18 – Apr 

18).
 Construction / installation of equipment (Apr 18 – Dec 18).

(b) Project Performance

We will know if the project has been successful when the following measures improve:

 Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities and prepared for reuse 
and/or recycled, including source segregated biowastes that are composted or treated 
biologically in another way; and

 Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities and prepared for reuse.
 Establishing a baseline for tonnage collected from the furniture reuse scheme.

Page 18



(c) Project Evaluation

The project is progressing since its implementation in August. Numerous items have been 
identified as suitable for re-use, stored at unit 5 and subsequently collected by The Furniture 
Revival. As the project commenced in August 2017 there will be no data on quantities of 
items/tonnes to report for Qtr2, therefore, we will focus on obtaining a baseline.

Progress since last highlight report

Not applicable – this is the first Highlight Report to be produced.

Targets for the next period

 Explore options that will possibly provide opportunities to collect bric-a-brac items at the 
HWRCs for re-use.

 Start the application process to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) to undertake the 
waste functions at Unit 20 (Dec 17 – Jun 18).

 Submit the necessary planning applications for the site (Dec 17).
 Start the procurement process for contractors to carry out the work on site (Jan 18 – Apr 

18).

(d) Project Risks / Issues

There are no identified risks or issues

Page 19



APPENDIX II  

Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution

KPI
National Indicator Percentage of fly-tipping incidents cleared in 5 days

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 95.7
(1158/11210)

92.4
(829/897)

94.7
(1586/1674)

100
(1785/1785) 100 1st

Wales 95.0 93.1 95.3 95.37

KPI
Local Indicator Percentage of fly-tipping incidents cleared in 5 days

Quarterly Performance Data (17/8) Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 100
(1785/1785) 100 100 100 1st

National Indicator Incidents of fly-tipping that led to prosecution

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT * * 1 9 N/A

Wales 
(total) * * 53 69 N/A

Local Indicator Incidents of fly-tipping that led to prosecution

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 9 0 0 N/A

Page 20



National Indicator Cleanliness Index (LEAMS) – The average score for the Cleanliness Index

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 67.7 67.5 67.5 66.5 69.8 17th

Wales 68.7 67.9 68.4 69.8

National Indicator The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of 
cleanliness

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 95.4 
(1430/1499)

92.9
(644/693)

98.1 
(255/260)

97.0 
(423/436) 100 7th

Wales 97.5 96.9 96.5 96.6

Local Indicator The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of 
cleanliness

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 97.0 98 94.3 96.15
(to date) 100 7th

Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy

National Indicator Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities sent to landfill

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 50.1 36.8 30.4 3.7
(1009.02/27585.20) 5.0 9th

Wales 37.7 29.4 18.1 9.5

Page 21



Local Indicator Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities sent to landfill

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 3.7 0.6
(43.46/7416.31)

1.111

(73.18/6914.64)
0.85

(116.64/14330.95) 5.0 9th

KPI
National Indicator

Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities and prepared for 
reused and/or recycled, including source segregated biowastes that are 
composted or treated biologically in another way.

Annual Performance Data Annual LA 
Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 48.2 51.2 61.6 65.09
(17955.55/27585.20) 64.0 11th

Wales 54.3 56.2 60.2 63.8

KPI
Local Indicator

Percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities and prepared for reused 
and/or recycled, including source segregated biowastes that are composted or 
treated biologically in another way.

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual LA 
Target

LA 
Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 65.09 66.46
(4928.67/7416.31)

63.2712

(4368.30/6914.64)

64.8712

(9296.97/14330.95)
to date

64.0 11th

National Indicator Percentage of waste sent for other recovery

Annual Performance Data Annual Target

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

MT N/A N/A 14.6 40.4
(11153/27585.20) 31.0

11 This is subject to Waste Data Flow (WDF) validation
12 This is subject to Waste Data Flow (WDF) validation

Page 22



Local Indicator Percentage of waste sent for other recovery

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18

MT 40.4
(11153/27585.20)

38.6
(2859.55/7416.31)

43.29

(2979.94/6914.64)
40.8

(5839.49/14330.95) 31.0

Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 
spaces

Local Indicator Number of priority spaces that meet the quality standards (out 
of 23 priority open spaces)13

Annual Performance Data Annual Target
Quality Standards

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2017/18

A Welcoming Space 5 7

Healthy Safe and Secure 7 10

Clean and Well Maintained 7 10

Sustainability 4 6

Conservation and Heritage 4 6

Management and Achievements 3 4

Community Involvement 4 8

Marketing Plan 2 3

Availability of all open space per 1000 
population across entire Borough (ha) 8.24 8.24

Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy

Local Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by street lighting

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 2009 1809 740 446 N/A

13 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough contains 139 open spaces in total. The Council’s approved Action Plan identifies 
23 of these spaces as Priority Open Spaces which are being used as a local indicator of open space quality.

Page 23



Local Indicator Total carbon dioxide emissions from energy consumed by street lighting

Quarterly Performance Data (17/18) Annual Target LA Rank

2016/17 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

MT 446 85 27 N/A

Page 24



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Fly Tipping Update including Prosecutions and 
Penalties 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To update the Scrutiny committee on the number of prosecutions to date; the 
number of cases being dealt with; the current backlog; what level of evidence is 
required to progress a prosecution; and how any successes are published.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the scrutiny committee notes the content of this report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the number of prosecutions 
to date, the number of cases being dealt with; the current backlog; what level of 
evidence is required to progress a prosecution; and how any successes are 
published.

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

Fly-tipping 
4.1 In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were adequate for fly tipping as the performance scores 

were slightly better than the all Wales average, as shown in the table below.

Date Written 28th November 2017
Report Author Paul Jones/Jemma Rough
Service Area Neighbourhood Services
Committee Date 22nd January 2018

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 92.3 % 92.2 %

4.2 The Fly-tipping functionality formed a part of the Waste Services Department in 
2012/13 and resources included two members of staff (3.5 days per week) and the 
use of one vehicle (this also included all receptacle deliveries, private works). 

4.3 All fly-tipping evidence was gathered by Waste Services and passed to 
Environmental Health Department for further action. All prosecutions were 
undertaken by Environmental Health. No prosecutions were taken to court.

4.4 Fly tipping is not unique to Merthyr Tydfil; it is a national problem and fly tipping 
incidents are increasing. Tackling fly tipping within Merthyr Tydfil has been high on 
the agenda over the last two years and links into the corporate priority ‘A Sustainable 
Environment’.  

4.5 Local Authorities are responsible for clearing fly-tipping on public land. LA’s may also 
investigate incidents on private land but there is no obligation to clear the waste.

4.6 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) is responsible for dealing with large scale illegal 
dumping, including incidents involving organised crime and certain hazardous 
wastes. NRW will only clear up such waste where there is an immediate risk to the 
environment or human health.

Environmental Enforcement Officers
4.7 There were a minimal amount of FPNs served prior to February 2016. Any FPNs 

served for littering/dog fouling would have been completed by Environmental Health.

4.8 As reported via BBC News, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) was 
the only Welsh Local Authority to serve 0 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)s for littering 
and dog fouling in 2013/2014, as shown in the table below.

Table 1: Percentage of fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days in 2012/13

Page 26



4.9 In February 2016 a year’s contract commenced with the external company, 3GS. 
Their contract ended at the end of January 2017 as per the agreement and Full 
Council agreed to trial an in house team. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

Fly-tipping
5.1 Fly tipping clearances has improved in 2016/17 from 95% to 100%. 

5.2 We are still achieving 100% of reported fly tipping incidents removed within 5 
working days (April – October 2017), primarily due to an Enforcement Team being 
generated and two extra agency staff responsible for removing and investigating the 
fly tipping of household waste, including black bags. The first quarter of 2017/18 (505 
reported incidents) indicates a rise in reported complaints with an increase of 43 

Table 2: Amount of FPNs served in Welsh Local Authorities in 2013/14 

Page 27



complaints compared to the first quarter in 2016/17 (462 reported incidents). The 
second quarter of 2017/18 (455 reported incidents) indicates a fall in reported 
complaints with a reduction of 56 complaints compared to the second quarter in 
2016/17 (511 reported incidents).

5.3 The reported incidents for October 2017/18 (204 reported incidents) indicates and 
increase in complaints compared to October 2016/17 (180 reported incidents). 

5.4 Meetings are continuing with Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) and community 
groups where necessary, to find a process which enables us to tackle fly tipping 
collectively.

5.5 With the introduction of the Enforcement Team in February 2016, there has been:
 10 successful prosecutions for fly tipping and s.34 offences which according to 

Fly Tipping Action Wales, has ranked MTCBC as one of the top 3 Local 
Authority’s for successful fly tipping prosecutions.

 3 fly tipping cases pending
 12 FPNs paid for s.34 offences
 1118 FPNs served by 3GS with 30 successful littering prosecutions taken by 

MTCBC

5.6 Due to the increase of fly tipping, the Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement 
Team started serving s.34 notices on businesses within the borough as a 
preventative strategy to reduce fly tipping from businesses. This is to determine how 
businesses are disposing of their commercial waste. On average 5 notices are 
served per week and as a result the team have received over £3000 in fines over the 
last two years, from businesses not adhering to their duty of care.

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

38.5% 36.4%

8.3%
5.6%

2.8% 2.2% 1.9% 1.5% 1.4% 0.9% 0.4% 0.1%

Table 2: Fly tipping complaints by waste type – Quarter 1 & 2 2017/18

Page 28



Fly Tipping Prosecution Process 
5.7 There is a current backlog of information found within fly tipped waste of 190 cases. 

This has reduced significantly since the start of the Technical Admin Assistant, 
where the backlog was in excess of 450 cases. Where there is a lack of robust 
evidence, it was agreed with the Chief Officer and Portfolio Member that warning 
letters would be sent.
  

5.8 All information found on both public and private land is reviewed by the 
Environmental Health Officer to ensure it is admissible to process for further 
investigation. There are certain types of information that will not be taken forward for 
further investigation, such as; junk mail, unopened mail, hand written envelopes and 
any cases where the chain of evidence has been compromised e.g. if someone has 
removed the information from the bags.

5.9 An example workflow for a potential prosecution is shown below:

Information found by fly tipping teams 
2 days

Revenues/DVLA Check completed 

Initial PACE letter sent – 10 days to allow potential offender to seek legal advice.

If no show, final PACE letter sent – 10 days to allow potential offender to seek legal advice

Case considered for prosecution – 3 days to review evidence and possible defence

Case file prepared – 2 weeks to compile evidence and write case file

Progressed to the Legal Department

Case file reviewed to ensure there is sufficient evidence 
and is in the public interest to prosecute

2 weeks
Draft information completed

Lay information in Court – 4 weeks from drafting information to plea hearing

5.10 Any successful cases that are taken through the Courts are passed to the Corporate 
Communications Team for publishing and promoting the success. All successes are 
promoted via Media Wales, the Corporate website, the Corporate Facebook and 
Twitter accounts and an email is sent to all staff and Councillors. The press release 
includes details of the case and a statement from the Portfolio Member.

Environmental Enforcement Officers
5.11 Two Environmental Enforcement Officers for littering and dog fouling commenced 

work July 24th 2017.

Page 29



5.12 One Officer left before enforcement began.

5.13 Currently, there is one officer patrolling who has issued one ticket to date. The 
second Officer has been appointed and is due to commence work 11th December 
2017. Training will be given with the hope they will be ready to start issuing tickets by 
the end of January 2018.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

Fly-tipping
6.1 We would like to have no fly tipping instances within the borough in the future. If this 

is not possible we would like to maintain our figure of 100% fly tipping incidents 
cleared within 5 working days. Where necessary we also aim to prosecute to help 
reduce the incidents of fly tipping. 

6.2 We want to carry out more surveillance to gain intelligence and evidence on fly 
tippers. The Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team have a number of 
covert cameras available to use for surveillance purposes. Due to the capacity within 
the department, there is a lack of surveillance being carried out. More surveillance 
will have a positive effect on the department as it will allow for more prosecutions, 
which with publicity, will deter potential offenders from fly tipping in the area. To allow 
sufficient surveillance to be carried out, more resources need to be implemented. 

6.3 We would like all businesses within the borough to adhere to their duty of care under 
s.34 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990). This can be achieved by 
establishing how businesses dispose of their waste and ensuring it is done correctly. 

6.4 On 25th October 2017 FPNs for small scale fly tipping was passed by Welsh 
Government. This allows Welsh Local Authority’s to issue FPNs to first time, small 
scale offenders. Fly Tipping Action Wales is calling for and ‘All Wales’ approach to 
issuing fly tipping FPNs. Basic guidance has been issued, however an ‘All Wales’ 
approach is yet to be agreed.

Environmental Enforcement Officers
6.5 Reduce the amount of litter and dog fouling found on the streets. This can be 

achieved by maintaining a presence on the streets and fining deliberate offenders. 

6.6 Educate the public on the offence of littering and dog fouling. As well as serving 
FPNs on deliberate offenders, the Environmental Enforcement Officers will educate 
where possible to try and deter people from offending in the future.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

Fly-tipping
7.1 Prioritise hot spot areas and send letter drops to problematic areas advising of the 

issues in the area and ask for information.
Page 30



7.2 Serve FPNs for small scale fly tipping. 

7.3 Explore PSPOs and liaise with RCT to establish their successes and barriers.

7.4 Raise awareness of duty of care (s.34) by sending a leaflet to all businesses with the 
Business Rate reminder in March.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 
 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Referral from Cabinet Member; Capital Project Scrutiny Referral 
(Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith) 
 
 
1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise the scrutiny committee members that the Cabinet Member for Finance, 

Governance, Legal & H.R. has referred a matter to the Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee receives the referral and considers it for the Work 

Programme. 
 
 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance, Legal & H.R. has asked that an 

investigation take place to analyse what went wrong and establish the root cause of 
both overspends in respect of the captioned projects. 

 
3.2 A copy of the email and the 2 reports referenced in said email are attached for ease 

of reference. 
 
3.3 The Committee is asked to consider the referral for inclusion in the work programme; 

and if accepted how it wishes to address the requirement i.e. “to analyse what went 
wrong and establish the root cause of both overspends.” 

 
Scrutiny Section 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 30th November 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Exempt / Non Exempt Non- Exempt 
Committee Date 11th December 2017 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Capital Monitoring 
report 2017/18 – 
Quarter 2  
 
Brandy Bridge Concrete 
Repairs and Cathodic 
Protection Scheme 

 
 

30th October 2017 
 
 
 

26th September 2017 

Attached 
 
 
 

Attached 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



APPENDIX I 
 
 
 
From: Barry, Andrew (Councillor)  
Sent: 26 November 2017 18:28 
To: Kennedy, Carys; Jones, Howard; O'Neill, Kevin (Councillor) 
Cc: 1 Cabinet Members; Chapman, Gareth; Cooper, Ellis; Jones, Steve (Accountancy); Evans, Cheryllee 
Subject: Capital Project Scrutiny Referral (Brandy Bridge, Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith) 
 
 
 
You will be aware of the Capital Monitoring Report 2017/18 (Quarter 2), brought to Cabinet 
22nd November 2017. The report outlines the period ending 30th September 2017 with its 
projected overspend of £426,000. 
 
The standout project over spends are the £313,000 in respect of the Brandy Bridge outlined 
in the Cabinet report 25th October 2017. The other being the £176,000 on the Road 
Slippage, South of Pontygwaith. 
 
The detail, of particularly, the Pontygwaith Project, are somewhat disturbing, particularly in 
respect of the Engineering presentation given at Budget Board on 15th November 2017. 
 
Both Capital Projects appear beset by inaccuracies in the information provided, problems 
with design and construction methods, unforeseen problems and apparently plain bad luck. 
 
With the amount of Capital Projects required by this Authority over the coming years, over 
spends of this magnitude are simply not affordable from any perspective. I am told we have 
have learned lessons! 
 
We as an administration, as a central theme, aim for openness and transparency. We 
intend to refer both Projects to Scrutiny, Audit and Internal Audit to analyse what went 
wrong and establish the root cause of both overspends. 
 
Will all Officers take your respective leads by communicating your requirements between 
each other and feedback progression and required action via your Cabinet Portfolio 
Members. 
 
Regards 
 
Cllr Andrew Barry 
Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance, Legal & H.R. 
 
Councillor / Cynghorydd Andrew Barry (Town Ward) 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Civic Centre, 
Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 
 

Page 35



                               Civic Centre, Castle Street,
                               Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Capital Monitoring report 2017/18 – Quarter 2

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report details the capital expenditure and financing position for the Period 
Ended 30th September 2017 for both core and externally funded capital projects.

1.2   The report details the capital expenditure position for the period 1st April 2017 to 30th 
September 2017, together with expenditure projections for the 2017/18 financial 
year.

1.3 A project overspend of £426,000 is projected for the 2017/18 financial year based on 
the revised budget position as at 30th September 2017, which is the end of the 
second quarter.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1      The Capital Monitoring Report for the second quarter of 2017/18 be noted.

2.2 The amendment to the budget in respect of an increased budget line for capitalised 
redundancy costs and associated funding through increased capital receipts as per 
paragraph 4.1 be approved.

2.3 Variances to the budget as per paragraph 4.3 be noted and where appropriate 
approved.

2.4 Officers continue to rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that expenditure remains 
within approved budgets.

Date Written 30th October 2017
Report Author Adele Lewis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 22nd November 2017

Page 36

jonesh1
Text Box
APPENDIX II

jonesh1_1
Text Box



2.5 Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to ensure expenditure remains within 
approved budgets.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Core Capital Programme as agreed at the Council of 26th July 2017 for the 
2017/18 financial year totalled £11.705 million and was financed through General 
Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported borrowing 
through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital receipts from 
fixed asset disposals.

3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1a. 

3.3 The Council has also been successful in securing additional funding through external 
grants, mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund which totalled 
£3.651 million for the 2017/18 financial year. Details in respect of grant/externally 
funded projects are outlined in Appendix 2a and 2b.

4.0 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS

4.1 Appendix 1a and 1b detail amendments required to the approved budget and 
funding profile that results in a revised budget of £11.955 million for 2017/18 as 
follows:

 The Council has the flexibility to utilise capital receipts for the period 2016/17 to 
2018/19 to finance the revenue costs of service reform. The value of revenue 
expenditure eligible for capitalisation in any given financial year is restricted to the 
amount of new capital receipts realised in that same financial year. For the 2017/18 
financial year capital receipts available to finance redundancy costs are projected to 
exceed the approved budget of £500,000 by £250,000.

4.2 Appendix 1 shows that £3.865 million of capital expenditure has been incurred on 
core financed projects up to 30th September 2017. Capital expenditure tends to be 
weighted towards the second half of the financial year.

4.3 Appendix 1a details a project overspend of £426,000 against budget, resulting in a 
projected outturn for the 2017/18 financial year of £12.381 million. The overspend 
projection is a result of the following:

  £139,000 overspend for the School Roof at Coed Y Dderwen. Emergency works are 
required to the Flat roof at the school as the roof is now leaking. Works to the roof 
had originally been planned for the 2018/19 financial year. 

 £100,000 payment made in relation to a final settlement payment as detailed in the 
Exempt Cabinet Report on the 25th October 2017. 

 £313,000 overspend on the Brandy Bridge scheme as detailed in the Cabinet Report 
of 25th October 2017.

Page 37



 An overspend of £25,000 as a retention payment for the Replacement Expansion 
Joints at Fiddlers Elbow.

 An overspend of £176,000 on the Road Slip South of Pontygwaith. The overspend is 
as a result of inaccurate information being held on the existing wall, which led to 
changes in the design and method of construction on more than one occasion as 
unforeseen problems occurred. In addition the depth to the rock below ground was 
more than previously investigated leading to changes in design and larger piles 
being used. This also had an effect of the use of scaffolding and has resulted in 
increased costs.

 An overspend of £83,000 to reflect the final purchase price of the Unit 20 Depot.

 An overspend of £49,000 as a result of higher than expected tender prices for depot 
security fencing. This is to be funded from an increased contribution from the Risk 
Fund.

 An underspend of £289,000 on Riverside as Sewer works are no longer required at 
the site. 

 An underspend of £150,000 on Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) due to lower 
numbers of referrals than expected and the introduction of a new case management 
system that has delayed DFG works.

4.4 Appendix 1b shows Capital Receipt income for 2017/18 from the Riverside project is 
lower than anticipated by £170,000 as detailed in the Cabinet Report of 25th October 
2017.

5.0 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

5.1 Other capital projects totalling £3.651 million funded from a variety of external capital 
grants together with the related financing profiles are detailed in Appendix 2a and b.

5.2 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 
conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year.

6.0 POTENTIAL ISSUES

6.1 Appendix 3 details potential issues relating to the projected capital outturn for 
2017/18.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 As at 30th September 2017 the projected outturn is an overspend of £426,000 on 
core funded projects which is to be funded from additional unsupported borrowing, 
the corporate risk fund and the capital contribution reserve as detailed in Appendix 
1b.

Page 38



8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Reports

 
September 2017 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 39



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18 Appendix 1a
(For the period Ended 30th September 2017)

Core Funded Projects
Budget 26th 

July 2017
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

21st Century Schools Programme - Afon Taf 1,375 0 1,375 912 1,375 0
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 1,531 0 1,531 0 1,531 0

Physical Regeneration Programme
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area 751 0 751 306 751 0
Town Centre Regeneration Programme 170 0 170 7 170 0
Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme 133 0 133 0 133 0

Riverside
Riverside Project 290 0 290 1 1 (289)
Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 584 0 584 104 584 0
Other Projects
Schools Feasibility Studies 60 0 60 1 60 0
Cyfarthfa High School Roof Replacement 129 0 129 86 109 (20)
Coed Y Dderwen School Roof 0 0 0 0 139 139
Final Settlement Payment 0 0 0 0 100 100
Highway Maintenance 670 0 670 520 670 0
Disabled Facilities Grants 850 0 850 171 700 (150)
Brandy Bridge Abercanaid 497 0 497 126 810 313
Replacement Expansion Joints Fiddlers Elbow 0 0 0 0 25 25
Road Slip South of Pontygwaith 517 0 517 349 693 176
Pontsticill Bridge 100 0 100 0 100 0
Pentwyndeinter Bridge 100 0 100 11 100 0
Security Fences 200 0 200 0 249 49
Corporate Maintenance 235 0 235 158 235 0
Costs of Supporting Capital Projects 466 0 466 233 466 0
Redundancy costs 500 250 750 250 750 0
Land Purchase/Works 2,000 0 2,000 0 2,000 0
Depot Review 547 0 547 630 630 83
Total 11,705 250 11,955 3,865 12,381 426

P
age 40



Appendix 1b

Core Funding Available
Revised 
Budget

Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 986 0 986 986 986 0

Supported Borrowing
General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 1,619 0 1,619 1,362 1,619 0
WG Supported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 531 0 531 0 531 0

2,150 0 2,150 1,362 2,150 0
Capital Receipts
Capital Receipts - Capitalisation 500 250 750 500 750 0
Capital Receipts - Riverside 429 0 429 105 259 (170)

929 250 1,179 605 1,009 (170)
Unsupported Borrowing
Unsupported Borrowing - General 4,550 0 4,550 0 5,077 527
Unsupported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 2,375 0 2,375 912 2,375 0
Unsupported Borrowing - Riverside Project 445 0 445 0 326 (119)

7,370 0 7,370 912 7,778 408

Contribution from Corporate Risk Fund 200 0 200 0 249 49

Capital Contribution Reserve 70 0 70 0 209 139

Total 11,705 250 11,955 3,865 12,381 426

P
age 41



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18
(For the period Ended 30th September 2017) Appendix 2a

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects

Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 1,469 29 1,469
Flying Start Projects 65 1 65
Renewal Areas at Merthyr Vale, Dowlais, Bedlinog 2 2 2
ECO 262 262 262
Enable 75 38 75
Penydarren Subway (SRIC) 150 0 150
Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 48 48
Vibrant and Viable Places Programme 1,419 0 1,419
Town Centre Arts Project 37 29 37
Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 124 0 124

Total 3,651 409 3,651

Appendix 2b

Specific Grant/other Funding Available

Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Welsh Government (WG):
   - 21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 1,469 29 1,469
   - Flying Start 65 1 65
   - ECO 262 262 262

- Enable 75 38 75

Welsh Government (WG)/Metro:
- Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) 1,419 0 1,419

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF):
   - Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 124 0 124

Other contributions:
 - Arts Council of Wales 37 29 37
 - Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 48 48
 - Transport Wales 150 0 150
 - Revenue 2 2 2

Total 3,651 409 3,651

Page 42



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18    
(For the period Ended 30th September 2017)  Appendix 3  
    
    

Potential Issues

Budget 
2017/18          

£000 Explanation  
    
    
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 1,531 The current funding profile for the 21st Century Schools Programme 

for Ysgol Y Graig is being re-profiled with Welsh Government and 
will be subject to a later Cabinet Report.  

    
Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 584 The most likely projection of expenditure to year end is an outturn of 

£391,000. Home loss payments originally factored into the current 
budget are unlikely to be required by 2017/18 but may be required 
in 2018/19 - the Council are currently seeking clarification on this. 
The budget is being maintained as additional opportunities may be 
available to completed further acquisitions prior to year end.

 
    
    

P
age 43



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Brandy Bridge Concrete Repairs and Cathodic 
Protection Scheme

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform Councillors of the problems encountered and the requirement for 
additional works to the above scheme and the financial implications resulting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 An additional £320,000.00 be approved in order to complete essential repairs to the 
structure within 2017/18.

2.2 The amended contract sum of £810,439.60 be approved.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Brandy Bridge was constructed in 1967 and is the only road bridge serving the 
village of Abercanaid. It is a four span bridge, 91m in length and consists of nine pre-
stressed concrete beams supporting a reinforced concrete deck. The superstructure 
is supported by three reinforced concrete piers of varying heights and two abutments 
on the East and West embankments. 

3.2 The bridge is the third structure at the location with the first being a 3 span wrought 
iron construction with masonry piers. It was built in 1861 to carry the Plymouth 
ironworks tramway and was demolished in the 1960’s. The second bridge was built 
alongside the first in 1934 which was a reinforced concrete open spandrel arch 
crossing the river with an iron beam bridge crossing the railway. In 1965 the River 

Date Written 26th Sept 2017 **
Report Author Carwyn Morris 
Service Area Engineering and Traffic
Committee Division Neighbourhood Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 25th October 2017

Page 44

jonesh1_2
Text Box
APPENDIX III



Taff flooded which undermined the West abutment and took away the bottom end of 
the arch causing the whole arch to collapse. A bailey bridge was constructed 5 days 
later by the army which remained in place until the construction of the present bridge 
was completed in 1967.                

3.3 The bridge is inspected every 2 years as part of the Council’s inspection regime for 
Highway Structures. Following inspections in 2012 and 2013 it was highlighted that a 
number of defects were present and a full refurbishment of the bridge was required. 
All expansion joints were leaking and major cracking was evident within the concrete 
piers and abutments. Heavy rust staining was also present on the concrete surface 
indicating severe corrosion of the steel reinforcement in some areas.

3.4 In 2014 Phase One of the refurbishment took place involving the replacement of 4 
expansion joints together with deck waterproofing, carriageway surfacing and new 
kerbs. Scour protection to the centre pier also took place.  

3.5 Following concrete testing of the piers and abutments in 2015 it was determined that 
an Impressed Current Cathodic Protection System would be the most suitable repair 
method to mitigate further deterioration. Impressed current cathodic protection works 
by delivering controlled amounts of DC current (10mA/m² in this case) through the 
piers and abutments via sacrificial anodes. The electrical current that is continuously 
regulated and monitored by the ICCP system helps prevent the electrochemical 
mechanism of galvanic corrosion thereby protecting the reinforcement within 
concrete.

3.6 Mott Macdonald was appointed to design the Cathodic Protection system and 
tenders were invited from six contractors via Lot 9 of the South East Wales 
Framework for the above scheme. This is Phase Two of the essential refurbishment 
work required to the structure. 

3.7 The project will ensure the long term viability of the structure which is critical to the 
local highway network as it is the only vehicular access serving the village of 
Abercanaid and businesses within the area.  

4.0 CONSTRUCTION STAGE 

4.1 Alun Griffiths (Contractors) Limited were awarded the contract in the sum of 
£337,635.21 in accordance with the financial regulations.  

4.2 Work commenced on the 3rd July 2017 and the scheme was initially due for 
completion on the 13th October 2017. However while carrying out preparation work 
for the Cathodic Protection system it has become clear that the bridge piers are in far 
worse condition than previously envisaged. It is estimated that 70% of the concrete 
face of up to 120mm thick needs to be removed and replaced with high strength 
mortar. In addition the replacement of corroded steel reinforcement is far more than 
expected as many reinforcing bars have major section loss (i.e. they are much 
thinner than should be).

4.3 The above repair work will clearly increase costs and extend the programme with 
estimated completion in February 2018. It is essential that the concrete repairs the 
installation of the cathodic protection system are done simultaneously.    

Page 45



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There is currently £500,000.00 allocated to this project within the Council’s Capital 
programme.

5.2 A further £320,000.00 is required to complete the remedial work set out within this 
report.

5.3 If further funding is not provided then the current contract will need to be terminated 
until the necessary finance becomes available. This will be more expensive as costs 
associated with scaffolding, traffic management, welfare facilities and Network Rail 
site supervision will need to be paid for again when the contract re-starts. 

5.4 In addition if the project is delayed the bridge is likely to deteriorate further which 
may result in weight restriction being imposed, affecting local businesses within the 
Abercanaid area.      

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING & COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 46



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Update on Carbon & Energy Management Activities 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an update on the Carbon & Energy management activities 
since the last report submitted in July 2017.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report to be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In 2012 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council along with other Local Authorities in 
Wales were the subject of a sector specific Carbon Management Review conducted 
by the Carbon Trust in Wales on behalf of the Welsh Government. This review 
ranked Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 21st out of the 22 Local Authorities 
in Wales and identified that the Council needed to improve in all aspects of carbon 
and energy management.

3.2 In early 2015, the Authority commissioned an independent Carbon Management 
Review by Carbon Trust accredited Consultants to measure progress made to date 
and to provide further strategic direction.

3.3 This Review was presented to this Committee on 22 June 2015 and an update on 
progress was given on 24 July 2017.

 

Date Written 1st December 2017
Report Author Mick Campbell
Service Area Neighbourhood Services 
Committee Date 22nd January 2018

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The 2015 Carbon Management Review considered our position in relation to the 
2012 Carbon Trust study in a qualitative assessment across a range of thematic 
areas with the outcomes summarised as shown below.

Although the report showed that good progress had been made in some areas with 
little funding available, it also identified the main challenges faced by the Authority 
in relation to Carbon Management which were:

 Scarce internal funding.
 Limited physical resources with competing priorities.
 An urgent need to improve engagement with staff to change behaviour.
 The lack of a formal Energy Policy and Carbon Management Plan.

 
4.2 Since December 2014 our electricity supplier, British Gas has been unable to 

provide accurate bills which we have therefore been unable to pay.  Despite being 
part of a Crown Commercial Services Contract which is now being run by National 
Procurement Wales, there are still problems with inaccurate billing which is 
preventing us from transferring to a new supplier.

Page 48



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Carbon Management Review
The authority as a whole spends approximately £2.6M on utilities bills per annum.  
The 2015 Carbon Management Review made six key recommendations that have 
been the focus of the Authority’s recent activities, progress against each of the 
recommendations is summarised below:

5.2 The appointment of an additional full time technical energy officer is       
essential if further progress is to be made.

An experienced technical energy officer was appointed to work within the existing 
energy team on a part-time agency basis to provide additional resource and 
support. 

The energy officer worked on data collection, energy surveys, feasibility studies, 
project management and producing a Carbon Management Plan.  He left the 
authority in June 2017 to take up a permanent post elsewhere as future 
employment or funding for projects could not be guaranteed.  We were unable to 
replace the energy officer because of a lack of skills in the area and being unable to 
guarantee any future work or funding for projects.  It was agreed by council to fund 
another full time fixed term post for an energy engineer on 22nd November so 
recruitment can now start to find a suitable replacement.  

5.3 The Authority should continue to operate a rigorous assessment of energy 
efficiency projects to maximise benefits from limited funding.

A small number of carefully selected projects have been completed including a 
combined heat and power plant (CHP) at Merthyr Leisure Centre and lighting and 
controls upgrades in selected areas within the Civic Centre. 

The energy team has completed a series of building Energy Audits to identify the 
most cost effective projects for implementation which will ultimately inform an 
Authority wide “Project List”. The Carbon Trust also recently completed a small 
number of high level energy efficiency surveys in a small number of Schools to 
further inform the “Project List”. 

We have been engaging with Green Growth Wales and ReFit Cymru on looking at 
ways to maximise the potential projects lists to achieve the greatest savings as soon 
as possible.  Green Growth Wales are looking at possible renewable energy 
projects within the Borough but have only given limited information on a possible 
solar farm near Afon Taff high school so far.  ReFit Cymru has a framework 
agreement where the feasibility of projects can be established and a group of 
contractors who will respond to tenders has been established.  There are current 
concerns around the legally binding contract which could pose a high risk to the 
authority because of binding timescales and the lack of resources available.

Page 49



5.4 A culture needs to be established where all employees take ownership for 
energy efficiency as the norm.

This is a key area, as improved operational management through behaviour 
change is widely recognised as one the most cost-effective means of reducing 
energy consumption.  We will be investigating the possibility of using Bob’s 
Business to set up a module on energy saving which all staff would have to 
complete on an annual basis.

5.5     The draft Carbon Management Plan should be completed as a priority.

A Carbon management team was established in October 2016 to set up and agree 
a Carbon Management Plan (CMP).  Each department which could have an effect 
on energy use and therefore reducing carbon emissions is represented on the team 
which is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive to prove senior management 
commitment.  A full draft plan was produced at the most recent meeting along with 
a project list of works with savings both financially and in emissions provided.  
Following on from the teams’ review of the plan it should be presented to Cabinet 
for approval soon.  The delays have been due to lack of resources.

The CMP encompasses the following: 

 Establish Carbon baselines 

 Clearly state the case for action

 Provide a visible commitment to CO2 reductions 

 Appoint a high level champion/delivery board

 Quantify reduction targets and the associated resource implications.  

 Delegate specific areas of delivery to key managers 

 Outline a suitable means of reporting and communication

 Establish a mechanism for regular reviews

5.6 Council wide targets should be delegated to key managers and a system of 
regular site level reporting introduced to inform and motivate. 

Staff and managers need to be motivated and informed to save energy. This can be 
best achieved by routinely reporting energy performance and providing support to 
managers to identify areas of waste.  The systems are set up to do this but again a 
lack of resources prevents it from being rolled out. 

5.7 Reductions targets should be set at a consistent level e.g. 5% per annum to 
reinforce the message that continuous improvement is the norm and is 
equally important throughout the life of the Carbon Management Plan. 
Introducing monitoring and regular reporting will require access to reliable energy 
consumption data. In readiness, the energy team have recently introduced an online 
reporting tool that is capable of reporting energy consumption at half-hourly intervals 

Page 50



for the Authority’s larger sites. It is intended to extend this to cover gas and 
electricity consumption at all sites.    

5.8 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC).

The CRC was introduced by the UK Government in 2010 as a means of 
incentivising energy efficiency by taxing large users of electricity on the amount of 
Carbon Dioxide (CO2) produced by their energy use.  In late 2015 the UK 
government published a consultation document on the scrapping of the current CRC 
scheme to reduce the reporting burden on businesses and to replace the charge by 
increasing the Climate Change Levy (CCL) on all energy users.  The results of the 
proposals should have been announced as part of Budget 2016 but no information 
was given.  Instead the UK Government increased the CCL by a small amount and 
gave figures for this increase until 2019.  Next April the amount will increase by 
approximately 25% and the increase for 2019 is between 45 – 67% dependant on 
fuel type.  More increases for 2020  onwards will be announced in Budget 2018.Our 
total CLC charge per annum in 2015/16 was approximately £75,000, so without 
reducing energy use this will rise to approximately £94000 this year and 
approximately £136,000 in 2019.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 As previously highlighted by External Reviews in 2012 and 2015, the Authority’s 
carbon management (energy cost reduction) activities should be formalised within a 
Carbon Management Plan as this would provide:

 A corporate commitment to reduce energy costs (carbon emissions) 
including quantifying the level of reduction targets.

 A visible statement of senior management support with key managers 
given delegated areas of responsibility.

 Formalised arrangements for implementation and ongoing review which 
should be overseen by a board level champion.  

 More full time members of staff are required to strengthen the team and 
keep the momentum going forward. 

 All new buildings should be built to near zero energy standards.

6.2 The Carbon Management Plan has a project list which has identified that a 
significant reduction in energy use can be made and a 5 year programme of cost 
effective measures would deliver annual savings of c£500,000 and 1196 tonnes of 
CO2 at a total cost of c£1.3M.

6.3 We need to clear the debt owed to British Gas in order that we can move all our 
accounts over to the new supplier EDF.  Unfortunately we are having to wait for 
British Gas to supply accurate billing information which is very slow at coming 
through and even then it is inaccurate so has had to be rejected.  Two recent 
examples are The Grove Field initial bills were £18000 and reduced to under £5000 
after challenge, Unit 20 has been billed at £28000 and this has been reduced to 
£11000 at the first challenge with a second challenge in progress.  We currently 
have an outstanding debt of approximately £70000 which includes the higher of the 
above figures and complaints have been raised with British Gas, Crown 

Page 51



Commercial Services and OFGEM.  This affects most local authorities within 
England & Wales.  

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Agree and implement a Corporate Carbon Management Plan.

7.2 We have submitted an expression of interest to Salix/Invest to save Funding to 
borrow up to £4million for energy saving/carbon reduction targets and this has been 
agreed in principal as long as each individual project reaches the required 
reductions/paybacks set by the funding criteria.

7.3 We have a severe lack of both resources and funding available for energy 
management.  We need to recruit an experienced energy engineer on a full time 
basis so that the Carbon Management Plan and programme can be pushed 
forward.  This may take some time as there is a shortage of skilled engineers 
available.

7.4 We will ensure that only the most efficient equipment is used in replacement or new 
items for building services.

7.5 When new boilers or heating systems are installed they will be controlled by a 
Building Management System (BMS) and linked back to Property Services.

7.6 The Welsh Government are about to issue renewable energy targets and carbon 
budgets in order to meet their ambition for Wales to be energy neutral by 2030.  
Both of these will result in new legislation which will specifically target the public 
sector and increase both funding and resource requirements and place mandatory 
targets for reductions.  Dependant on the scope of the requirements may mean 
more staff are required to collect and collate the data and financial penalties may 
be incurred if targets are met  We are at a severe disadvantage to other authorities 
on this issue as we are one of only two who did not report these emissions under 
the CRC scheme. 

7.8 A further report will be prepared and presented once the implications of the carbon 
budgets and decarbonisation of the public sector are known as this is sure to have 
a fairly substantial influence on both our energy costs and present a higher risk 
rating for energy efficiency and carbon reduction.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The Carbon and energy management activities directly relate to the authorities 
Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community Plan and is incorporated in the 
Environmental Wellbeing 1 scrutiny report in that the reduction in energy use will 
reduce the amount of CO2 produced by the authority therefore improving the air 
quality within the borough. 

Page 52



CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER FOR NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT
CABINET MEMBER FOR 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees

MTCBC Carbon 
management Plan – 

V0.5 Draft for approval

CMP Project List

Q:/ Carbon Management Plan

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report

2.2 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Date Written 8th January 2018
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 22nd January 2018

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 

Page 56



will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act)

3.3 The Act applied the wellbeing duty on local authorities. This duty means this Council 
has to work towards its wellbeing goals and is required to publish its Statement of 
Wellbeing, which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community over the 
next five years. 

The Authority’s “wellbeing objectives” seek to secure sustained improvements in the 
economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and 
work in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when 
they need it most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives.

In brief, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil cover four main groups:

Best Start to Life (Reported to Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee)
 BS1 Children get the best start to life. 
 BS2 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals.

Working Life (Reported to Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee)
 WL1 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the 

future. 
 WL2 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish.

Environmental Wellbeing (Reported to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Committee)

 EW1 Communities protect - enhance and promote our natural environment 
and countryside 

 EW2 Communities protect - develop and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets.

Living Well (reported to Social Services Scrutiny Committee)
 LW1 Developing safer communities. 
 LW2 People have good physical and mental wellbeing. 
 LW3 People live independently.

Page 57



3.4 The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the “sustainable development 
principle” when setting wellbeing objectives, and in taking steps to meet those 
objectives. 

Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle” means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

In the Act, the sustainable development principle is exemplified by the five ways of 
working i.e. there are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that 
they have applied the sustainable development principle. Following these ways of 
working will help us work together better, avoid repeating past mistakes and tackle 
some of the long term challenges we are facing. These “5 things” (ways of working) 
are shown below:-

1. Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs (taking account of both 
short term and long term needs when making decisions.) 

2. Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 
help public bodies meet their objectives (stop problems happening or getting 
worse)

3. Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies (making sure that the objectives set by the 
council contribute to the wellbeing goals and there is an understanding of how 
they impact on other organisations work to meet the goals). There needs to be 
connections within the council, between departments, between cabinet 
members Who else within this organisation do we need to talk to ; to avoid 
wasted effort, duplication. What other pieces of legislation may affect, inform, 
impinge upon what we are seeking to address?

4. Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives (working  with people inside and outside the council to meet your 
objectives when working towards the goals).

5. Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the wellbeing goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves (make sure that everyone who has 
an interest or expertise in or is affected by achieving the goals are involved or 
represented).

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the wellbeing 
objectives and each scrutiny committee will be receiving regular performance reports 
on these areas. See appendix I which provides further details on this Authority’s 
wellbeing objectives.

Page 58



3.6 Scrutinising under the Act. The Act says that we have to dramatically change the 
way we do things. Not changing what we do but changing the way that we do it. This 
is difficult as many public sector organisations are entrenched in their approaches, in 
their activities and in their attitudes. In all scrutiny work members will need to 
consider the Act!

1. Applying the principles of the Act -  Scrutiny committees will have a 
responsibility to ensure that the principles of the Act are applied to policy and 
decision making in Merthyr

2. Contributing to the setting of the Wellbeing Objectives and the Well Being 
statement.

3. Monitoring progress against the Objectives and seeing if they are being 
met. 

4. Scrutiny of the PSB  - strategic and focussed on the work of the PSB as a 
whole (not its constituent members) either an existing scrutiny committee or a 
new one

5. By ensuring that the ways of working are followed in Merthyr Tydfil when 
undertaking 

 Pre-decision scrutiny (involvement of community in the decision making 
process?); 

 Policy development (how will this policy impact in people in 2030,40,50 
years?); 

 Performance monitoring (are there problems that can be prevented? 
Could performance be improved if we work with someone else?); and

 Investigative scrutiny (work with people who have an interest in the 
subject).

3.7 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Statement of Wellbeing 28th June 2017 MTCBC Internet

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 59

http://mtcbcelecreg:9070/documents/s36089/Committee%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



BS Best Start to Life

4. BS 1: Children get the best start to life3

Children, have a positive early experience to ensure they are ready to learn, ready for 
school and have good life chances.

4.1. What happens to children in their earliest years is key to outcomes in adult life.  This is 
now supported by a wide range of research evidence from education, health, justice and 
economic experts.  This wellbeing objective is about giving our children the best start in 
life, to set them off on a path that leads to positive outcomes later in life.

4.2. Improving early years support is also crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse 
childhood experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and 
wellbeing.  We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition of early 
years recognises the importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and that the 
transition into primary school is a critical period in children’s lives.

4.3. Parents and carers have a crucial role in creating a home environment that nurtures early 
development and addresses barriers to learning that particularly affect less advantaged 
children and young people.  Parents in Merthyr Tydfil recognise they have a shared 
responsibility with schools to help their children develop skills, but a lack of confidence in 
their abilities can prevent some from doing so.

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
wellbeing needs of young children.  Such needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass play, learning, social relationships and emotional, physical and mental 
wellbeing.  While this approach is important for all children, it will particularly benefit 
children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of poor outcomes later in life.  The key 
components to support positive development in the early years include:

 Children having a nurturing and stimulating home environment
 Children having access to high quality pre-school and school education
 Helping mothers to have good maternal health
 Helping parents and carers with literacy and numeracy to enhance their ability to 

support their children’s learning

4.5. The risks of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to 
underlying factors, mainly poverty and lack of parental skills and knowledge as well as 
education.  Wider stresses on parents and families such as substance misuse, debt, poor 
housing and lack of employment can also affect the quality of early years' experience and 
therefore impact on development.

3 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 
services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).

Page 61

jonesh1_3
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_4
Typewritten Text
                    APPENDIX I

jonesh1_5
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 
these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 62

jonesh1_6
Typewritten Text



BS Best Start to Life

5. BS 2: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals

Children and young people, develop the knowledge, skills and attributes they will need to 
flourish in life, learning and work.

5.1. This objective is the next step on from the early years and continues the principle of 
valuing the wider benefits that learning can bring to the individual, to society and 
communities and to the economy.  It is part of a framework to show how all the constituent 
parts of our education and learning systems can contribute to giving Merthyr Tydfil a skills 
base that will improve economic, cultural, social and environmental wellbeing.

5.2. A young person’s education, from the early years through their compulsory education, lays 
the foundations of skills for life and work.  What they learn and the skills they acquire will 
help them improve their own lives.  Education has become one of the clearest indicators 
of life outcomes, such as employment, income and social status, and is a predictor of 
attitudes and wellbeing.

5.3. Wellbeing is strongly linked to attainment.  Research evidence shows that there is value 
for schools to promote health and wellbeing among pupils.  This can range from effective 
social and emotional competencies, the culture ethos and environment of a school and 
opportunities for pupils to be physically active.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are 
more likely to be ready to learn and achieve better academically.

5.4. This wellbeing objective has at its core the promotion of equality of opportunity.  Equipping 
children and young people with the skills they need includes the following key 
components:

 Schools equipping pupils with high levels of literacy, numeracy and ICT skills
 Schools equipping pupils with social and emotional skills
 Schools supporting physical activity of pupils
 Youth services involving young people and enhancing their knowledge and skills

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address the 
wider factors that influence family life:

 Children get the best start to life
 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 63



WL Working Life

6. WL 1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce 
of the future

Highly skilled and qualified people are supported by a local economy that makes full and 
productive use of these skills; where our employers, demand, value and make best use of 
their workforce's skills.

6.1. "Too often, people's experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and 
traps, rather than routes out"4.  This echoes the challenges experienced by unemployed 
people in Cwm Taf, who spoke of insufficient employment opportunities and numerous 
barriers to employment, particularly the lack of useful support or guidance.

6.2. A key challenge in Merthyr Tydfil is to help people develop their resources (skills, 
knowledge etc.) and tackle the barriers they experience so they can become the 
workforce of the future.  The focus of this wellbeing objective will be on the work we do 
within our communities to improve their skill level of the workforce.

6.3. Research shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to be 
in relatively low income and people who are not in employment with no qualification are 
more likely to be economically inactive.  This is important because a comparatively high 
proportion of people in Merthyr Tydfil do not have any qualifications; we need to improve 
employability skills for those without jobs.  The key components to support the 
development of the future workforce include:

 People having employment opportunities
 People having the basic skills to access learning and training programmes
 People having the skills and qualifications that are suitable for employers' changing 

needs

6.4. The risk of poorer outcomes for people with low or no skills are strongly linked with the 
likelihood they are in lower paid work; experiencing in-work poverty and having lower 
resilience when dealing with issues or problems.  Evidence also shows poorer mental and 
physical health outcomes are often experienced by those with low or no skills.

6.5. Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives 
which address these underlying factors, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life

4 JRF (2016) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 64



WL Working Life

7. WL 2: Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses 
to flourish

Development that integrates regeneration with sustainable urban design improves the 
built environment and strengthens the natural environment.

7.1. The built and natural environment can have a strong effect on people's behaviour and 
opportunities and a significant impact on their wellbeing, particularly by where they live 
and work.  The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do in our communities to 
develop the environment and infrastructure that allows the growth of communities and a 
resilient local economy.

7.2. There is evidence to suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality 
local services are important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, 
visitors and local residents alike.  Development that is sustainable can help build 
resilience and capacity in adapting to climate change, ensuring town centres and 
communities are attractive, viable and better protected.

7.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to environmental and 
infrastructure development needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Such needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include renewable and low carbon energy, sustainable transport, diverse 
housing, education, retail, green infrastructure including biodiverse open spaces.  Access 
to high quality local services, amenities and safer communities can attract inward 
investment, increase visitor spend and help grow the local economy.  The key 
components to support the development of the environment and infrastructure include:

 People having access to flexible, integrated and sustainable transport options
 Parents and carers having flexible childcare options
 Suitable previously developed land that delivers a diverse supply of housing
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy
 Strengthening and diversifying the rural economy

7.4. Flooding and extreme weather events which damage assets and disrupt business 
operations pose the greatest risk to Welsh businesses now and in the future.  Evidence 
shows that high quality, sustainable and inclusive design can mitigate the predicted 
effects of climate change.

7.5. Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

Page 65



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8. EW 1: Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural 
environment and countryside5

People, proud of the area’s outstanding landscape, regularly spend time outdoors in good 
quality, accessible greenspace.  Communities help improve their local areas, learning new 
skills, building strong social bonds and helping wildlife flourish.

8.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 
enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside.  This is because research 
shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple benefits for 
people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat protection and 
enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental health.

8.2. How we act toward the natural environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 
sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our natural 
environment will be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the natural 
environment and countryside as all greenspace within the local authority boundary.  This 
broad definition of the natural environment and countryside recognises its importance of 
nature in both rural and urban environments.

8.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 
environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 
broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 
resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 
is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 
are key environmental issues or risks.  The key components for communities to protect, 
enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside include:

 Integration of landscape protection, management and planning
 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste hierarchy
 Developing good quality and connected green infrastructure and open spaces

8.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 
lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 
influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 
environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 
cultural perspectives.

5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems.

Page 66



EW Environmental Wellbeing

8.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the natural environment and countryside has 
to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, 
particularly:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental health

Page 67



EW Environmental Wellbeing

9. EW 2: Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and 
cultural assets

Celebrating success, valuing our heritage, culture and language will strengthen our 
identity for future generations.

9.1. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to use existing community assets to deliver wealth 
and health benefits for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  There is a strong argument to 
suggest valuing our heritage, culture and language can bring improvements to the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities.  

9.2. The distinctiveness of Merthyr Tydfil has been shaped by our industrial past and the 
different communities who make Merthyr Tydfil their home.  How we work with these 
communities will be a critical factor in delivering on the vast potential that Merthyr Tydfil’s 
heritage and cultural assets offer us.

9.3. When local people talk about culture, it is often described as an opportunity for 
celebration.  Where this culture is celebrated varies from historic buildings brought back 
into use such as the Redhouse, Soar and Dowlais Engine House to modern venues such 
as the many rugby clubs, community centres and the refurbished Merthyr Tydfil football 
club.  The regeneration of the town centre has provided an additional asset for hosting 
cultural activities that brings people together including Merthyr Rising, Merthyr by the sea, 
Awesome Chilli Festival.

9.4. Cyfarthfa Park was regularly referred to as something good in the community during our 
engagement activities.  How people use the park varies from walking, foraging, fishing and 
landscape painting to attending events such as open air theatre, concerts and firework 
displays.  Whatever the use, the impact on people’s sense of wellbeing was commonly 
endorsed. 

9.5. Community groups that bring people together were also acknowledged as something 
good by those taking part in our engagement activities.  There was a sense that the 
tradition of community groups was enjoying resurgence as the focus on wellbeing 
develops.  Making social connections with other people is directly correlated with 
improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 
isolation and loneliness experienced by many different people living in the community.

9.6. Using our landscape and history to encourage people to be more physically active is a 
great way to improve wellbeing.  Cyfarthfa provides the backdrop for the annual Wales 
Valleys Walking Festival, which showcases Merthyr Tydfil’s history and natural beauty 
combined with walking.

9.7. In addition to health and wellbeing benefits our heritage and culture can help bolster the 
prosperity of the county borough by attracting visitors and tourists which supports inward 
investment, provides employment and offers opportunities to develop new skills.  In 

Page 68



EW Environmental Wellbeing

addition research shows that being able to speak, read and write Welsh can be an 
advantage for people seeking a job in Wales.

9.8. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the cultural 
wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted broadly and 
encompass tourism, destination management, conservation and preservation of assets 
and language, local events and community participation.  The key components for 
communities to protect, develop and promote our heritage and culture include:

 Supporting existing community facilities and community led developments
 Supporting suitable tourism, leisure and recreation developments
 Promoting cultural and social activities within our communities
 Promoting the use of the Welsh language

9.9. Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets has to work 
alongside our other wellbeing objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for businesses to flourish
 Developing safer communities

Page 69



LW Living Well

10. LW 1: Developing safer communities

People, living in connected communities, feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

10.1. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 
quality of life, often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 
neighbourhood or not.  There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 
resilience in individuals and communities is an important step towards improving 
wellbeing.  Where healthier and happier people are more likely to positively contribute to 
their communities and society.

10.2. Community safety covers many aspects of life; however, there is no commonly agreed 
definition of community safety or clarity on the range of services and activities that 
contribute to its delivery.  We define safer communities from a social perspective as 
communities that are free from crime, victims of crime or those living in fear of crime.  This 
definition allows us to focus on the social aspects of safety that adversely affect the quality 
of life and wellbeing of people.

10.3. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do to develop safer communities, 
including keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm, creating a place where 
people value their neighbours and community.  The key components for developing safer 
communities include:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol
 Tackling violence against women and girls
 Offender management (young people through to adults)
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Community cohesion

10.4. Developing safer communities will need to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives, 
particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

10.5. In the wider environmental context of safe communities, our wellbeing objectives provide a 
focus on the elements needed for people and communities to develop and maintain a 
clean and biodiverse environment, well lit, free from graffiti, litter and fly-tipping:

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside

Page 70



LW Living Well

11. LW 2: People have good physical and mental health

People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in their life, are heathier, feel good and 
function well.

11.1. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them, 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health is 
incontrovertible.  Either one will have effects on the other.  Poor physical health can lead 
to poor mental health and the other way round.  Just as good physical health can improve 
our state of mind, a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our ability to cope with 
physical ailments.

11.2. Research shows that levels of subjective wellbeing vary across the life course, dipping in 
the mid teenage years, at midlife, and again among the oldest of the old.  The perception 
of general health remains one of the strongest predictors of subjective wellbeing in adults 
and people who are physically active are more likely to have improved general and mental 
health.  

11.3. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates nature provides added value to the 
known benefits of physical activity.  Locally people have told us they have a strong 
association between the outdoors and wellbeing.  However, people also shared their 
concerns on the quality, accessibility and awareness of greenspace, in both urban areas 
and the wider countryside.

11.4. The focus of this wellbeing objective is to motivate and support people and communities 
to develop positive physical and mental health behaviours.  Adopting these behaviours 
early in life will help us to ensure long term and sustainable benefits for the physical and 
mental wellbeing needs of the people in Merthyr Tydfil. 

11.5. To ensure a holistic approach to meeting this objective, physical and mental health needs 
should be interpreted broadly and encompass the family and neighbourhood, school and 
teenage years, having a good job, home and positive social relationships.  The key 
components for people have good physical and mental wellbeing include:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences
 Increasing levels of physical activity

11.6. People have good physical and mental health has to work alongside all other wellbeing 
objectives.

Page 71



LW Living Well

12. LW 3: People live independently6

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

12.1. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required to 
promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community.  

12.2. For disabled people (of all ages) this objective is about removing the barriers that prevent 
the full participation in all aspects of society and promoting the rights and full inclusion of 
disabled people.  Research evidence from the Office of Disability Issues suggests that 
independent living provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than 
conventional forms of service provision.  At service delivery level, benefits include the 
reduced costs in the delivery of independent support mechanisms.

12.3. For older people this objective is about addressing the care and support needs required to 
remain in their own homes, and developing local capacity within communities so people 
can connect with others and become more involved in community and public life.  There is 
evidence that older people living locally wish to remain living in their homes as long as 
possible.  Alongside tangible benefits in promoting wellbeing linked to choice and control 
and other aspects of maximising independent living for older people, there is also a 
lessening reliance on institutional forms of service provision leading to reduced costs.

12.4. Our engagement with people locally which has identified key factors to support people to 
live independently include:

 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people with 

protected characteristics

12.5. Ensuring that people can live independent lives for longer requires wider societal changes 
to create the necessary conditions to ensure the success of this objective.  To create 
these changes, people to live independently has to work alongside our other wellbeing 
objectives, particularly:

 Children get the best start to life
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish
 Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets

6 This wellbeing objective contributes to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD), 
which includes Article 19: the right to independent living.

Page 72



LW Living Well

 Developing safer communities

12.6. In the wider context of people living independent lives our other wellbeing objectives focus 
on the elements needed for people and communities to become more self-sufficient 
particularly:

 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future

Page 73



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton                     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Jones   PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Carys Kennedy 

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Thomas     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Mark Anderton    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

PROJECT LEADS:       CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Cheryllee Evans     PROJECT LEADS: 

- Sarah Bowen (Education)    PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS:        -  Paul Lewis (Licensing & Trading Standards) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Deb Ryan-Newton (Employability Service)     -  Steve Thomas (Environmental Services)    -  Ryan Evans  (Community Safety)  

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services)     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     -  Mick Campbell (Property & Estates    -  Julie Beck  (Safer Merthyr Tydfil) 

- Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)            -  Susan Gow (Environmental Health)    - Gary Black (RCT County Borough Council) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS              OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      OTHER CONTRIBUTORS 

       -       John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)             -  Paul Jones (Environmental Services)    -  Sarah Bowen (Education) 

      -      Steve Peters (Public Protection)             -  Paul Davies (Environmental Services)    -  Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Services) 

 

                  

 

 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

                        WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Judith Jones 

PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Lisa Mytton    PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Geraint Thomas     PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  Howard Barrett    CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Steve Peters   WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Annabel Lloyd     WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Chris Hole    PROJECT LEADS:  

CHIEF OFFICER:  Sue Walker    CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      CHIEF OFFICER:  Alyn Owen      -  John Sellwood (Corporate Services) 

PROJECT LEAD      PROJECT LEADS        PROJECT LEADS   

- Sue Walker (Education):     -  Chris Long (Community Regeneration)     - Chris Long (Community Regeneration) 

- Annabel Lloyd (Children’s Service)    -  Cheryl Jones (Rights of Way)      - Zoe Thomas  (Physical Regeneration) 

- Joe Colsey (Education)     -  Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)     - Rhian Prosser (Town Centre Manager)  

- Sarah Bowen (Education)     -  Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)     - Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities)  PORTFOLIO MEMBER:  David Hughes 

- John Sellwood (Leisure & Culture)   OTHER CONTRIBUTORS       OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      WELLBEING CHAMPION:  Anthony Lewis 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      -  Sarah Bowen  (Education)      - Sarah Bowen (Education)     CHIEF OFFICER:  Lisa Curtis-Jones 

       -       Chris Hole (Anti-Poverty & Wellbeing)   -  Judith Jones (Planning)       - Ryan Barry (Tourism & Social Enterprise)   PROJECT LEADS 

               -  Lisa Williams-Clement (Highways & Engineering)            -  Angela Edevane (Adult Services) 

                 -  Suzanne Lewis-Abbott (Supporting People)  

                         -  Gareth Kedward (MIA) 

                                        -   Kerry O’Donovan (Corporate Risk & Equalities) 

OTHER CONTRIBUTORS      

  -  Steve Peters (Public Protection) 

 

 

 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD WELLBEING PLAN 

 

Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

 

BEST START 
 

WORKING LIFE 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 

 

LIVING WELL 

 

BEST START 1: 

Children have the best start to life 

 

BEST START 2: 

Children and young people are equipped with 

the skills they need to be successful learners and 

confident individuals 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO LEARNING & 

LAESCYP SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

All objectives present an update report to the Governance Scrutiny Committee once annually 

 

WORKING LIFE 1: 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the 

Workforce of the Future 

 

WORKING LIFE 2: 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for 

business to flourish 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 1: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 

natural environment and countryside 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL WELLBEING 2: 

Communities protect, develop and promote our 

heritage and cultural assets 

 

LIVING WELL 1: 

Developing safer communities 

 

LIVING WELL 2: 

People have good Physical and Mental Health 

 

LIVING WELL 3: 

People live independently 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, PLANNING & 

COUNTRSYIDE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

UPDATE REPORTS PRESENTED TO 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Version 1 (November 2017) 

P
age 74



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 
Member 

Scrutiny Focus 

24th July 2017 Preparation of Annual Work Programme

Sports pitches / 
facilities in the County 

Borough

Cheryllee Evans / Rob 
Barnett / Portfolio 

Member

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Referral from Cllr Tony Rogers.  There are approximately 8 sports 
pitches / facilities across the county borough that have fallen into disrepair.   Are fees too 
high? Costs of grass cutting repairs no longer being borne by the Council? Not enough 
people playing sport? What are the reasons for this and what is being done about it?

Grounds 
maintenance, Parks 

and Open Spaces

Cheryllee Evans / Rob 
Barnett / Portfolio 

Member

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The committee has been informed that as the council cannot 
sustain the level of service provided in the past, it must look at innovative ways with 
which to provide the service. The use of volunteers and community groups will become 
ever more important and we must work with these groups to help them help themselves. 
A progress report is required. 

11th September 2017

Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Wellbeing (EW1)
Item Withdrawn

Portfolio Member / 
Cheryllee Evans & 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Wellbeing (EW2)

Portfolio Member / 
Alyn Owen & 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Recycling / landfill 
Published & Verified 

Data

Cllr H. Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans / Paul 
Davies / Steve Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  By 2025 at least 70% of municipal waste is to be recycled and the 
remaining (residual) 30% is to be dealt with by high efficiency Energy from Waste plant. 
The Recycling / Landfill performance data will have been published in August. The main 
focus of the Authority is to build on recent successes and continue to improve 
performance to enable us to exceed the Welsh Government statutory target. A report to 
scrutiny providing details of the figures, showing trends, comparisons with other Welsh 
authorities and progress against targets. 

30th October 2017

The Welsh Public 
Library Standards 

Jane Selwood (Leisure 
Trust)

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To ratify the Welsh Public Library Standards return. The Library 
Service will be reporting on the performance of the service over the last year (first year 

P
age 75



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

return as Trust). There will be a selection of items and information for the committee to 
consider. This is an annual item.

Response to 
questions- Grounds 
maintenance, Parks 
and Open Spaces; 

Sports Pitches/ 
Facilities in the 

County Borough

Cllr H. Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans / Rob 
Barnett

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The Committee has sent a list of questions in relation to  
Grounds maintenance, Parks and Open Spaces; Sports Pitches/Facilities in the County 
Borough. The Committee to challenge and question the responses with Officers and 
Portfolio Member in attendance 

EXEMPT ITEM
Household Waste and 

Recycling Centres

Cllr H. Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Cabinet wants the scrutiny committee to review the business case proposal and process 
and to provide comments to Cabinet.  This is being done following Wales Audit Office 
comment who reviewed the MTCBC change management process and commented that 
for the purposes of transparency the business cases should be referred to Scrutiny to 
ensure that there is a proper investigation into the proposals and proper resilience in the 
staffing structure when reductions in staff or services are proposed.

Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Wellbeing (EW1)

Portfolio Member / 
Cheryllee Evans & 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Fly Tipping Update 
incl Prosecutions and 

Penalties

Portfolio Member /  
Cheryllee Evans / 

Simon Jones (Legal) / 
Jemma Rough / Paul 

Davies

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Now that the Authority has the enforcement policies and 
structure in place the committee wishes to receive a report to include the number of 
prosecutions to date (last 2 years), the number of cases being dealt with currently; and 
an update on any backlog of evidence that the fly tipping department has on file. The 
committee also wishes to understand what level of evidence is required to progress a 
prosecution and how we as an Authority are publishing successful prosecutions.

11th December 2017
Meeting postponed 
– weather)

Energy Efficiency Portfolio Member / 
Cheryllee Evans / Mick 

Campbell

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Authority as a whole spends approximately £2.6M on utility 
bills per annum. The Carbon Management Plan has a project list which has identified that 
a significant reduction in energy use can be made and a 5 year programme of cost 
effective measures would deliver annual savings of circa £500,000 and 1196 tonnes of 
CO2 at a total cost of circa £1.3M. An update on the recommendations of the Carbon 

P
age 76



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Management Review in 2015 to include progress on the Draft Carbon Management Plan.

Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Wellbeing (EW1)
(From 11th December 

meeting)

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans & 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Fly Tipping Update 
incl Prosecutions and 

Penalties
(From 11th December 

meeting)

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans / 

Simon Jones (Legal) / 
Jemma Rough / Paul 

Davies

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Now that the Authority has the enforcement policies and 
structure in place the committee wishes to receive a report to include the number of 
prosecutions to date (last 2 years), the number of cases being dealt with currently; and 
an update on any backlog of evidence that the fly tipping department has on file. The 
committee also wishes to understand what level of evidence is required to progress a 
prosecution and how we as an Authority are publishing successful prosecutions.

Energy Efficiency
(From 11th December 

meeting)

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans / Mick 

Campbell

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Authority as a whole spends approximately £2.6M on utility 
bills per annum. The Carbon Management Plan has a project list which has identified that 
a significant reduction in energy use can be made and a 5 year programme of cost 
effective measures would deliver annual savings of circa £500,000 and 1196 tonnes of 
CO2 at a total cost of circa £1.3M. An update on the recommendations of the Carbon 
Management Review in 2015 to include progress on the Draft Carbon Management Plan.

22nd January 2018

Referral from Cabinet 
Member; Capital 

Project
Scrutiny Referral 
(Brandy Bridge 
scheme / Road
Slip - South of 
Pontygwaith)

(From 11th December 
meeting)

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans and 

appropriate Officers / 
Cllr Andrew Barry

Scrutiny and Challenge:-  There has been overspend in respect of 2 projects - Capital 
Project Scrutiny Referral (Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith). The 
request is that scrutiny analyses what went wrong and establish the root cause of both 
overspends.

26th February 2018 Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Portfolio Member / 
Alyn Owen & 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 

P
age 77



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Wellbeing EW(2) appropriate Officers most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

Highways and Street 
Lighting

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Cheryllee Evans / 

Darren Chaffe

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   The Highways Department is now based at the Abercynon Depot 
with RCT Highways Services and they are working closely together on delivering an 
efficient Highways & Street Lighting Service to ensure the best outcomes for users. An 
update on how this collaborative working is progressing in terms of service efficiencies 
and improved delivery.

Wellbeing Objective
Environmental 

Wellbeing (EW2)

Cllr Howard Barrett / 
Alyn Owen & 

appropriate Officers

Scrutiny & Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing 
objective.  The scrutiny report will outline the context, current position and provide the 
most up to date performance and project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee 
to discuss and challenge on the steps taken to meet our wellbeing objectives.

9th April 2018
Recycling / landfill 
Performance Data

Portfolio Member / 
Cheryllee Evans / Paul 
Davies / Steve Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Follow up to October 2017 meeting. A report to scrutiny 
providing details of the figures (unverified), showing trends, comparisons with other 
Welsh authorities and progress against targets. 

Drugaid Cymru
Needle exchange 

service

To be confirmed Scrutiny & Challenge:-   This was discussed at the Social Services Scrutiny meeting on 7th 
November 2017. It was suggested that Neighbourhood Services consider taking the issue 
forward of the number of needles returned to Drugaid as they have no duty or obligation 
to get needles back (Across Cwm Taf 150,000 needles issued /100,000 returned approx.) 
As such there is a large number of needles unaccounted for which pose health and safety 
issues in our communities. 

Steve Peters taking this issue forward with the Area Planning Board. He will raise the 
matter there.

Additional items to 
consider for Work 

P
age 78


	Agenda
	3 Environmental Wellbeing (EW 1) - Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside
	4 Fly Tipping Update including Prosecutions and Penalties
	5 Referral from Cabinet Member; Capital Project Scrutiny Referral (Brandy Bridge scheme / Road Slip - South of Pontygwaith)
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	3.1 The Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance, Legal & H.R. has asked that an investigation take place to analyse what went wrong and establish the root cause of both overspends in respect of the captioned projects.


	6 Update on Carbon & Energy Management Activities
	9 Forward Work Programme
	APPENDIX I Statement of Wellbeing July 2017
	3 Neighbourhood Services




